

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



DRUG DELIVERY Reviews

Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 60 (2008) 59-68

www.elsevier.com/locate/addr

## PEG-uricase in the management of treatment-resistant gout and hyperuricemia $\stackrel{\checkmark}{\sim}$

Merry R. Sherman<sup>a,\*</sup>, Mark G.P. Saifer<sup>a</sup>, Fernando Perez-Ruiz<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Mountain View Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 3475-S Edison Way, Menlo Park, CA 94025, USA <sup>b</sup> Sección de Reumatologia, Hospital De Cruces, Pza Cruces, Barakaldo 48903, Spain

> Received 22 May 2007; accepted 10 June 2007 Available online 14 August 2007

#### Abstract

Hyperuricemia results from an imbalance between the rates of production and excretion of uric acid. Longstanding hyperuricemia can lead to gout, which is characterized by the deposition of monosodium urate monohydrate crystals in the joints and periarticular structures. Because such deposits are resolved very slowly by lowering plasma urate with available drugs or other measures, the symptoms of gout may become chronic. Persistent hyperuricemia may also increase the risk of renal and cardiovascular diseases. Unlike most mammals, humans lack the enzyme uricase (urate oxidase) that catalyzes the oxidation of uric acid to a more soluble product. This review describes the development of a poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) conjugate of recombinant porcine-like uricase with which a substantial and persistent reduction of plasma urate concentrations has been demonstrated in a Phase 2 clinical trial. Two ongoing Phase 3 clinical trials include systematic assessments of gout symptoms, tophus resolution and quality of life, in addition to the primary endpoint of reduced plasma urate concentration.

Keywords: Poly(ethylene glycol); Urate oxidase; Therapeutic enzyme; Gout; Hyperuricemia

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	60		
2.	2. Preclinical development of PEGylated recombinant mammalian uricase			
	2.1. Coupling chemistry and molecular weight of PEG	61		
	2.2. Number of strands of PEG	61		
	2.3. Proof of principle in a mouse model of severe gout	61		
	2.4. Effects of aggregated uricase on the pharmacokinetics and immunogenicity of PEG-uricase conjugates	61		
	2.5. Optimization of the extent of PEGylation based on antigenicity	62		
	2.6. Molecular model of the selected conjugate	62		
	2.7. Final stages of preclinical development	62		
3.	Clinical studies	62		
	3.1. Phase 1	62		
	3.2. Phase 2	63		
	3.3. Phase 3	64		
4.	Anti-PEG antibodies	64		
5.	Induction vs. maintenance therapy with PEG-uricase.	65		

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 650 365 5515; fax: +1 650 365 5525. *E-mail addresses:* sherman@mvpharm.com (M.R. Sherman), saifer@mvpharm.com (M.G.P. Saifer), fperezruiz@telefonica.net (F. Perez-Ruiz).

<sup>\*</sup> This review is part of the Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews theme issue on "Peptide and Protein PEGylation III: Advances in Chemistry and Clinical Applications".

6.	Alternative drugs for treatment-resistant gout	65
7.	Conclusions	66
Ack	nowledgments	66
Refe	erences	66

#### 1. Introduction

Gout is characterized by persistent hyperuricemia, which results in the deposition of monosodium urate monohydrate (MSU) crystals in the joints and periarticular structures and of uric acid calculi in the urinary tract ("kidney stones") [1]. While gout has been recognized for several millennia [2], its increasing incidence during the past few decades [3,4] and the growing recognition of the renal and cardiovascular consequences of persistent hyperuricemia [5–9] have enhanced the urgency of developing more effective treatments. For a significant number of patients with gout and other conditions in which hyperuricemia is poorly controlled with available drugs, polymer-coupled uricase and other drugs in development offer new hope of improved clinical outcomes.

Unlike nearly all other mammals, humans and higher apes lack the enzyme uricase (urate oxidase, E.C. 1.7.3.3), which catalyzes the oxidation of uric acid to allantoin, a more soluble product that is readily excreted in the urine [10]. The lack of uricase in humans results in plasma uric acid concentrations that are much higher than in most mammals. When these concentrations exceed the solubility limit of about 7 mg/dL at physiological pH, uric acid may nucleate to form crystals in tissues and joints [11]. Shedding of MSU crystals into the synovial cavity induces acute inflammatory responses known clinically as gout flares. The persistence of crystals in the synovial fluid and synovial membrane induces chronic inflammation. In addition to gout, another condition associated with hyperuricemia is tumor lysis syndrome, in which the induction of effective chemotherapy for hematologic cancers such as leukemia and lymphoma may result in dramatic elevations of plasma uric acid [12–15]. Hyperuricemia also occurs with high frequency during the months and years following organ transplantation, when renal function and hence the excretion of uric acid are compromised by immunosuppressive agents, such as cyclosporine A, used to prevent rejection of the transplanted organ [16-19]and by diuretic drugs administered after kidney transplantation.

A major contribution to the management of gout and other consequences of hyperuricemia was the introduction in the 1960s of allopurinol, a precursor of oxypurinol that is a potent inhibitor of xanthine oxidase, which catalyzes the last steps in the metabolism of purines to uric acid [20,21]. Intractable gout can result from allergic reactions to allopurinol, some of which are life-threatening or fatal [22–25] or from an inadequate response to the highest tolerated doses of the available drugs. Patients suffering from treatment-resistant gout often have painful gout flares and/or tophi (inflamed deposits of MSU crystals), as do patients whose serum uric acid levels are lowered to just below 6 mg/dL [26]. Resolution of tophi occurs when sub-saturating serum urate levels are maintained for long periods, but this rarely happens in response to the inhibition of uric acid synthesis by allopurinol [27]. More rapid resolution of tophi is observed when serum uric acid levels are lowered further by the administration of more effective urate-lowering therapy, e.g., uricosuric agents with or without allopurinol [28].

During the past seven decades, there have been numerous attempts to manage treatment-resistant gout by the administration of uricase extracted from various sources or expressed in recombinant organisms. In the early 1940s, Oppenheimer and colleagues injected uricase into hens, cocks and one patient [29,30]. London and Hudson [31] were also among the pioneers who administered purified uricase to two human patients. Recognition of the immunogenicity of uricase in humans led to efforts to prepare poly(ethylene glycol) conjugates of uricase (PEG-uricase) [32-38] and to the first clinical study of PEGuricase in five patients with advanced solid tumors [39]. The first U.S. patent claiming "water-soluble non-immunogenic polypeptide compositions," which issued in 1979, described the synthesis of PEG-uricase as Example I [32]. Nevertheless, it has taken another quarter century to overcome the challenges presented by the development of a form of PEG-uricase that fulfills the requirements for a useful drug:

- 1. sufficient reduction of the immunogenicity of this nonhuman enzyme to permit repeated dosing;
- 2. retention of sufficient enzymatic activity to be effective at a reasonable dose, e.g., retention of at least 75% of the intrinsic activity in the conjugate;
- 3. sufficient solubility under physiological conditions to enable reasonable bioavailability;
- 4. reproducible and cost-effective synthesis of a conjugate with adequate stability during storage and shipping and *in vivo*; and
- 5. a sufficiently long half-life in patients to permit a convenient schedule of administration, e.g., once or twice a month.

All of the above objectives appear to have been fulfilled by a PEGylated form of recombinant mammalian uricase that was developed jointly by scientists from Mountain View Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Duke University [40–43]. Savient Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (East Brunswick, NJ) holds a worldwide exclusive license to this form of PEG-uricase, for which the trademark Puricase<sup>®</sup> was registered by Mountain View Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Savient expects to complete its Phase 3 clinical trials of Puricase<sup>®</sup> in North America during 2007.

## 2. Preclinical development of PEGylated recombinant mammalian uricase

The collaborative development of PEGylated recombinant mammalian uricase by scientists at Duke University and Mountain View Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (MVP) began during 1995, with support during 1996–1998 from the U.S. National Institutes of Health. Drs. Michael S. Hershfield and Susan J. Kelly of Duke constructed various recombinant mammalian uricases, among which the selected amino acid sequences resembled that of porcine uricase most closely, but contained several residues from the baboon sequence [42]. These sequences are referred to in this review as "porcine-like" sequences. During 1996 through 1999, the scientists at MVP designed a PEGylation strategy for these recombinant uricases that fulfilled the objectives outlined in the Introduction [40].

#### 2.1. Coupling chemistry and molecular weight of PEG

Optimization of the PEG conjugates involved covalent coupling of porcine-like uricases to various numbers of strands of methoxyPEGs of various molecular weights: 5 kDa, 10 kDa, 20 kDa and 30 kDa. Except as indicated to the contrary (as in Section 4, below), the abbreviation PEG denotes methoxyPEG. The selected coupling chemistry utilized *p*-nitrophenylcarbonate derivatives of the PEGs to form stable urethane bonds between the polymer and the solvent-accessible amino groups on the protein. This activation chemistry was initially developed by Wilchek and Miron for immobilization of enzymes and affinity ligands [44,45]. The same investigators and their colleagues [46] and others later used *p*-nitrophenylcarbonate derivatives as PEGylation reagents [47–49]. Williams et al. [40] demonstrated that coupling a relatively small number of strands of 5-kDa PEG led to marked reduction of the catalytic activity of uricases extracted from various sources or having various amino acid sequences expressed in recombinant organisms. The tested sequences included those of Aspergillus flavus, Candida utilis, soybean and several porcine-like uricases. The number of strands of 5-kDa PEG that inactivated the enzyme by >50% was smaller than the number needed to confer a long half-life in rodents or to suppress the binding of anti-uricase antibodies in vitro. Similar results had been reported by earlier investigators who had attempted to prepare 5-kDa PEG conjugates of uricases from various sources [33,35,36,39,50,51].

In contrast with the results obtained with 5-kDa PEG, Williams et al. [40] and Sherman et al. [41] found that conjugates of porcine-like uricase could be prepared with a sufficient number of strands of 10-kDa PEG to achieve very long half-lives in laboratory animals and to suppress their antigenicity and immunogenicity, while retaining approximately 90% of the uricolytic activity of the unmodified enzyme. In addition, the 10-kDa PEG conjugates of porcine-like uricases were readily soluble at physiological pH, in contrast with the unmodified enzyme that was soluble only at a high pH (e.g., pH 10 to 11). Among three conjugates containing the same total mass of PEG (60 kDa per subunit), the conjugate with six strands of 10-kDa PEG per subunit had a significantly longer half-life in mice than those with three strands of 20-kDa PEG or two strands of 30-kDa PEG per subunit. On the basis of such experiments, conjugates synthesized with 10-kDa PEG were selected for further development.

#### 2.2. Number of strands of PEG

Although the amino acid sequences of each subunit of the tested porcine-like uricases contain an amino-terminal amino group and a total of 28 or 29 lysine residues [42] that could theoretically be sites of PEG attachment, only about 12 of the amino groups on each subunit are accessible on the surface of the native tetrameric structure, based on the molecular model described in Section 2.6. Furthermore, a few of the solventaccessible lysine residues are sufficiently close to each other that if PEG is coupled to one of them, steric hindrance is expected to inhibit the coupling of another strand of PEG to the neighboring residue. In a series of experiments, Williams et al. found that a maximal average of about 11 strands of 10-kDa PEG could be coupled per subunit of porcine-like uricase without disrupting the tetrameric structure and inactivating the enzyme. In all of these experiments, the number of strands of PEG per subunit of uricase was determined by size-exclusion chromatography with refractive index (RI) and ultraviolet absorption (UV) detectors in series. Since both the PEG and the protein components of the conjugates contribute to the RI signal, but only the protein contributes to the UV signal, the mean ratio of PEG to protein in each peak of the chromatogram can be calculated from the ratio of these signals, as described by Kunitani et al. [52]. As discussed in Section 2.5 below, the conjugate selected for clinical development contains  $9\pm 1$ strands of PEG per subunit [53].

#### 2.3. Proof of principle in a mouse model of severe gout

Various conjugates of porcine-like uricase containing 10kDa, 20-kDa or 30-kDa PEG were tested in laboratory animals by the scientists at Duke and MVP. The most dramatic demonstration of the urate-lowering potency of a conjugate containing six strands of 10-kDa PEG per subunit was obtained by comparing microscopic magnetic resonance images (microscopic MRI) of the kidneys of normal mice, uricase knockout mice (in which the uricase gene had been inactivated [54]) and uricase knockout mice that had been treated with PEG-uricase for ten weeks at intervals of five to seven days. While the renal architecture (visualized by microscopic MRI) and all of the tested renal functions were grossly abnormal in the untreated uricase knockout mice, the structure and function of the kidneys were nearly normal in the PEG-uricase-treated knockout mice. These results were published by Kelly et al. [43] and were included in the patent of Williams et al. [40]. An elegant application of the microscopic MRI technique as applied to intact normal mice and uricase knockout mice was later published by Maronpot et al. [55].

## 2.4. Effects of aggregated uricase on the pharmacokinetics and immunogenicity of PEG-uricase conjugates

Additional studies of PEGylated porcine-like uricase demonstrated that the immunogenicity of the conjugates could be reduced below the level conferred by PEGylation alone if the conjugates were prepared from uricase from which all traces of

aggregated protein detectable by light scattering measurements had been removed [41]. Ion-exchange chromatography was used to fractionate preparations of porcine-like uricase into pools of three size ranges: tetramers of the uricase subunit (with a total molecular weight,  $M_{\rm r}$ , of about 140 kDa), octamers (with a total  $M_r$  of about 280 kDa) and large aggregates (with a total  $M_{\rm r}$  exceeding 300 kDa). Fractions from the ion-exchange column were characterized by size-exclusion chromatography in which the eluate was monitored both by absorption of ultraviolet light and by light scattering. The large aggregates were detectable only by the latter technique, in which the signal is proportional to the product of the size of the scattering particle times its weight concentration. Pools of fractions containing predominantly tetramers or octamers, with or without large aggregates, were then coupled to an average of six strands of 10-kDa PEG per subunit.

The pharmacokinetics and immunogenicity of the resultant conjugates were tested after weekly injections into mice for six weeks. Serum was prepared from blood drawn 24 h after each injection. Residual uricase activity in the serum was assayed spectrophotometrically and anti-uricase antibodies were measured by an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). The results revealed that conjugates prepared from uricase containing traces of large aggregates were cleared significantly more rapidly than those prepared from aggregate-free tetrameric or octameric uricase and that anti-uricase antibodies were detectable only in mice injected with conjugates prepared from uricase containing large aggregates [41]. These studies clearly indicated that even extensive PEGylation, e.g., with an average of 24 strands of 10-kDa PEG per tetramer, cannot completely block the immunogenicity in mice of porcine-like uricase that contains even a small proportion of large aggregates.

## 2.5. Optimization of the extent of PEGylation based on antigenicity

Using aggregate-free porcine-like uricase, conjugates were synthesized with various numbers of strands of 10-kDa PEG and tested for their ability to bind to anti-uricase antibodies raised in mice or in rabbits (see [56]). On the basis of the studies with murine antiserum, a conjugate containing an average of  $9\pm1$  strands of 10-kDa PEG per subunit was selected for clinical development, as reported by Baraf et al. [53]. Under the conditions tested, the antigenicity of the latter conjugate was only 0.1% of that of non-PEGylated porcine-like uricase, or about 10-fold lower than that of a conjugate with six strands of 10-kDa PEG per subunit.

#### 2.6. Molecular model of the selected conjugate

A molecular model of tetrameric uricase coupled to 36 strands of 10-kDa PEG is shown in Fig. 1D. The models of the enzyme itself, shown in Fig. 1A–C, were generated using the program RasMol [57] and the coordinates of the crystal structure of uricase from *A. flavus* [58] (protein data base, PDB 1uox). To generate the structure shown in Fig. 1D, the lysine residues of the *A. flavus* sequence were replaced by the

lysine residues of porcine-like uricase within the RasMol model. Molecular models of each of the 36 strands of 10-kDa PEG that are coupled to the most accessible lysine residues were generated using a program adapted from the program Add\_PEG described by Lee et al. [59]. In the space-filling model of the conjugate (Fig. 1D), the carbon and oxygen atoms of the polymer strands are shown at the same scale as those of the uricase.

#### 2.7. Final stages of preclinical development

The PEG-uricase developed jointly by the scientists at Duke and MVP was licensed to Bio-Technology General Corporation (BTG) in 1998. Scientists from BTG's subsidiary in Israel undertook further optimization of the amino acid sequence of the recombinant uricase, primarily involving modifications of the amino-terminal or carboxyl-terminal sequences [60,61], scaleup of the recombinant protein expression and purification, scaleup of the PEGylation process, and the preclinical toxicologic and pharmacologic studies required for regulatory approval to conduct studies in patients. The collaboration among scientists at BTG-Israel, Mountain View Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Duke University was supported by a grant from the U.S.–Israel Binational Industrial Research and Development Foundation (BIRD Foundation). In 2003, BTG Corporation changed its name to Savient Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Savient).

#### 3. Clinical studies

#### 3.1. Phase 1

In the first reported open-label Phase 1 trial of PEG-uricase (Puricase®) sponsored by Savient, 13 treatment-failure gout patients, including 11 with tophaceous gout, received single subcutaneous (s.c.) injections of PEG-uricase containing 4, 8, 12 or 24 mg of protein [62]. By day 7 after injection, the plasma uric acid concentration had decreased from a mean of about 11 mg/dL to a mean of about 3 mg/dL. Adverse reactions included injection-site reactions in three patients and gout flares in six patients, as are often observed in the early phase of effective anti-hyperuricemic therapy with other drugs, e.g., febuxostat [63]. The accelerated clearance of the PEG-uricase in five of the 13 patients, the slow release from the injection site of this large conjugate (with a total molecular weight of about 500 kDa) and injection-site reactions contributed to the decision to terminate the trial of s.c. administration and to conduct a Phase 1 study in which the drug was administered intravenously (i.v.). It should be noted that in monitoring uric acid levels in PEG-uricase-treated patients, measurements are performed on plasma, rather than serum, since the PEG-uricase present in the blood would metabolize the uric acid during clotting to form serum, resulting in spuriously low concentrations of uric acid.

In a second Phase 1 study, 24 treatment-failure gout patients, including 16 with tophaceous gout, received PEG-uricase as a single i.v. dose of 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8 or 12 mg of protein (4 patients per dosage level) [64,65]. At the three highest dosage levels, plasma uric acid decreased from about 11 mg/dL to normal



Fig. 1. Molecular models of uricase tetramer (A–C) and of PEG-uricase (Puricase ®) containing 36 strands of 10-kDa PEG per uricase tetramer (D). A. Cartoon model of uricase tetramer, based on the crystal structure of *A. flavus* uricase [58]. Each subunit is shown in a different color (red, blue, green or yellow). B. Space-filling model of *A. flavus* uricase tetramer, showing the tunnel. C. Space-filling model of *A. flavus* uricase tetramer, rotated around the vertical axis so that the tunnel is not visible. D. Space-filling model of uricase tetramer, in the same orientation as in B, to which nine strands of 10-kDa PEG are attached per uricase subunit. The structures of the PEG strands (shown in various shades of gray) were generated using a program adapted from that of Lee et al. [59]. The scale of D is about half that of A–C.

levels (generally defined as  $\leq 6 \text{ mg/dL}$ ) within 24 h and reached a minimum of < 2 mg/dL. The half-lives of uricase activity of the conjugate in plasma ranged from about 6 to14 days. There were no severe or serious adverse events, although gout flares were reported in 14 subjects, as are often observed in the early phase of effective anti-hyperuricemic therapy with other drugs, as discussed above. The safety, tolerability and apparent efficacy of PEG-uricase in this single-dose study supported the approval to conduct Phase 2 studies involving repeated administration of this drug.

#### 3.2. Phase 2

Phase 2 dose-ranging studies were performed during 2004 and 2005, for which preliminary results have been published and presented at several conferences [60,61,66–68]. Four dosing regimens of PEG-uricase (Puricase<sup>®</sup>) were compared during a treatment period of 12 weeks: 4 mg every two weeks;

8 mg every two or four weeks, and 12 mg every four weeks. Some of the results are summarized in Table 1 [66,67].

In order to document the effects (if any) of 12 weeks of treatment with Puricase<sup>®</sup> on the resolution of tophi, one of the clinical investigators in the Phase 2 study, Dr. Herbert S.B. Baraf, took photographs of the hands of two pre-selected patients with inflamed tophi at the joints of their fingers. Despite the relatively short duration of the Phase 2 study, the photographs taken after treatment for 12 weeks revealed dramatic improvements in both patients, who had been diagnosed with gout for about one year and about 25 years, respectively. These impressive, but pre-liminary results have been presented at several scientific meetings [53,69] and they provide further evidence that very low plasma urate levels correlate with the rapid disappearance of tophaceous deposits [28].

The effects of PEG-uricase in the Phase 1 and Phase 2 studies sponsored by Savient are compared with some previous clinical studies of uricase or PEG-uricase in Table 2.

Table 1				
Reduction in Plasma	Uric Acid (PUA)	levels in a	Phase 2 th	rial of puricase®

	Dosing cohort			
	4 mg/ 2 weeks	8 mg/ 2 weeks	8 mg/ 4 weeks	12 mg/ 4 weeks
Patients treated	7	8	13	13
Patients completed	4	8	8	6
PUA pre-treatment mean mg/dL (s.d.)	7.56 (2.24)	9.09 (1.73)	9.08 (3.10)	8.47 (2.74)
PUA during 12 weeks, mean (s.d.)	4.20 (2.47)	1.42 (2.06)	2.57 (1.67)	2.60 (3.08)
Mean reduction	44%	84%	72%	69%

The following conclusions can be drawn from the Phase 2 clinical trial [53,66–69].

- 1) Multiple dose administration of PEG-uricase led to substantial and sustained lowering of plasma uric acid (PUA) levels in all treatment groups.
- The most effective dose was 8 mg every two weeks, which lowered the mean PUA to less than 2 mg/dL throughout the dosing interval.
- 3) In two patients whose affected hands were photographed, there was a marked reduction in tophi by the end of the 12-week treatment with PEG-uricase. The reduction in tophi appeared to be more extensive than that observed in a patient treated with weekly infusions of rasburicase for one year [72].
- 4) Gout flare was the most common adverse event, but the incidence decreased during the 12-week treatment period.
- 5) Infusion reactions were clinically similar to those reported with other biological agents, e.g., with intravenous immunoglobulin [73].
- Detection of antibodies against PEG-uricase was not predictive of accelerated clearance of the drug or of adverse events.

- 7) The terminal elimination half-lives of PEG-uricase in these patients ranged from five to 17 days, which are much longer than that of rasburicase, which was reported to be  $21\pm12$  h [15].
- 8) The data from the Phase 2 trial supported the continued development of PEG-uricase as an anti-hyperuricemic agent for patients with treatment-failure gout.

#### 3.3. Phase 3

Patients with treatment-failure gout were recruited in the United States, Canada and Mexico for two Phase 3 clinical trials of PEG-uricase starting in May 2006 and enrollment was completed in March 2007 (see press releases at www. savientpharma.com). The six-month, double-blind Phase 3 trials include patients receiving placebo at two-week intervals, patients receiving 8 mg of PEG-uricase at two-week intervals and patients receiving alternating infusions of 8 mg of PEGuricase and placebo at two-week intervals (see www.clinicaltrials.gov). While the primary endpoint is reduced plasma urate concentration, these trials include assessments of gout symptoms, tophus resolution and quality of life. At the end of the sixmonth treatment period, all patients are given the option of continuing treatment in an open-label study, in which each patient and his/her physician can select treatment with 8 mg of PEG-uricase at either two-week or four-week intervals. To date, nearly 100% of those patients who have completed the blinded phase of the study have elected to continue (or, for placebo recipients, to start) receiving treatment with 8 mg of PEGuricase for an additional one or two years.

#### 4. Anti-PEG antibodies

In a family of patent applications first published in 2004, Martinez et al. [56] showed that rabbits immunized with

#### Table 2

Effects of uricase and PEG-uricase administration on uric acid in humans

Uricase or PEG-uricase conjugate	Dose administered	Effect on serum or plasma uric acid	References		
Suspension of uricase, presumably porcine, based on the reference to Mahler [70]	104 IU/mL or 95 mcg/mL $\times$ 5 or 10 mL=c. 0.5–1 mg per i.v. injection	Decreased c. 1 mg/dL for c. 1 h each time, i.e., by $< 16\%$	London and Hudson [31]; Mahler [70]		
PEG-modified <i>Candida utilis</i> uricase from Enzon, Inc.	120 IU/m <sup>2</sup> by i.v. infusion, repeated after 30 days <sup>a</sup>	Decreased to undetectable level for $<48$ h	Davis et al. [39]		
PEG-modified Arthrobacter protoformiae uricase from Enzon, Inc.	1 IU/kg, then after 30 h start 2 IU/kg each 5–6 days by i.m. injection, three times <sup>a</sup>	Decreased c. 70% for $<5$ days after first dose; smaller effect after each subsequent dose	Chua et al. [71]		
PEG-modified porcine-like uricase by Savient Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	8 mg by s.c. injection, once	Decreased to <6 mg/dL after 2 days and remained low for 10–21 days	Ganson et al. [62]		
PEG-modified porcine-like uricase by Savient Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	8 mg by i.v. infusion, once	Decreased to <6 mg/dL (>90% decrease) within 1 day and remained <6 mg/dL for 21 days	Sundy et al. [64]; Sundy et al. [65]		
PEG-modified porcine-like uricase by Savient Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	8 mg by i.v. infusion, every 2 weeks for 12 weeks	Decreased to <6 mg/dL within 1 day and remained <6 mg/dL for 92% of a 12-week observation period	Sundy et al. [66,67]; Hartman and Mendelovitz [60,61]		
PEG-modified porcine-like uricase by Savient Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	8 mg by i.v. infusion, every 4 weeks for 12 weeks	Decreased to <6 mg/dL within 1 day and remained <6 mg/dL for 86% of a 12-week observation period	Sundy et al. [66,67]; Hartman and Mendelovitz [60,61]		

<sup>a</sup> 120 IU/m<sup>2</sup> corresponds to about 2 IU/kg, based on an assumed body weight of about 75 kg and an assumed surface area of about 1.3 m<sup>2</sup>. Since the specific activity of the PEG-uricase of Davis et al. [39] was reported to be 0.47 IU/mg protein, the administration of 120 IU/m<sup>2</sup> corresponds to a total dose of >300 mg protein.

recombinant mammalian uricase coupled to an average of about two strands of 10-kDa methoxyPEG (mPEG) per subunit produced antibodies against both the enzyme and the polymer component. It should be noted that the conjugate used for these immunizations was known to contain an insufficient number of strands of PEG per subunit to inhibit the binding of the conjugate to anti-uricase antibodies. Such inhibition had been determined to require about six to nine strands of PEG per subunit, as described in Section 2.5 above.

Competitive binding experiments were performed with various polymers against the mixture of anti-PEG-uricase antibodies in the sera of rabbits immunized with the "twostranded" conjugate (eight strands of mPEG per uricase tetramer). Experiments in which anti-polymer antibodies were measured were performed on assay plates coated with mPEG conjugates of an unrelated protein. The results showed that 5kDa methoxyPEG bound to the anti-polymer antibodies with 100-fold higher affinity than PEGs of any length tested that lacked methoxyl groups at their termini, e.g., dihydroxyPEGs. Among PEGs of the same length containing 0, 1 or 2 methoxyl groups, the affinities for the anti-polymer antibodies increased with the number of methoxyl groups. The ensemble of results published in the patent application of Martinez et al. [56] was unexpected in the context of nearly three decades of publications on PEGylated drugs in which the polymer component, which was virtually always methoxyPEG, was described as "non-antigenic" and/or "non-immunogenic."

In view of the preceding observation of anti-mPEG antibody formation in rabbits, the observations of Ganson et al. [62] and of Sundy et al. [65] on the formation of anti-PEG antibodies in some patients in both the first and second Phase 1 clinical trials of PEG-uricase, in which the drug was given by s.c. and i.v. routes, respectively, was not unexpected, since the PEG-uricase conjugates used in all clinical studies to date have been synthesized with methoxyPEG. It has not been shown that the formation of anti-mPEG antibodies is treatment limiting with respect to either the neutralization of uricase activity or accelerated clearance, mediated by antibodies, that could preclude a convenient dosage regimen. If the ongoing Phase 3 clinical trials of PEG-uricase during six months of treatment show that anti-PEG antibodies diminish the utility of the drug for a substantial percentage of patients, then it is reasonable to expect that a nextgeneration form of PEG-uricase might be developed in which uricase is coupled to PEG lacking a methoxyl or other alkoxyl group at the terminus remote from the protein-coupling function.

#### 5. Induction vs. maintenance therapy with PEG-uricase

As in many chemotherapy protocols, e.g. as reported by Hainsworth et al. [74], it is possible that a relatively high dose of PEG-uricase will be needed to induce rapid resolution of tophi or other signs and symptoms of severe gout, while either lower and/or less frequent doses of PEG-uricase will be sufficient for maintenance therapy [11]. Once the accumulation of uric acid deposits in the joints and tissues of patients who have been treated suboptimally for years has been depleted by an initial course of PEG-uricase treatment, it is plausible that less frequent dosing or administration of a lower dose of PEG-uricase might be sufficient to prevent the renewed accumulation of such deposits. This hypothesis is consistent with the observations of Perez-Ruiz et al. [75] that the time between the withdrawal of urate-lowering drugs and the reappearance of flares and other symptoms of gout is dependent on the average serum urate levels during the treatment period.

#### 6. Alternative drugs for treatment-resistant gout

While the focus of this review is the development and early clinical trials of PEGylated recombinant mammalian uricase, several classes of alternative urate-lowering drugs should be mentioned. Drugs that are currently marketed or in clinical trials for the treatment of chronic hyperuricemia include: 1) uricosuric drugs, such as probenecid, sulfinpyrazone and benzbromarone (marketed in Japan); 2) uricostatic drugs, which are xanthine oxidase inhibitors such as allopurinol, oxypurinol and febuxo-stat; and 3) uricolytic drugs, such as extracted and recombinant uricases and PEGylated non-mammalian uricases [1,76,77].

As an alternative to the classical urate-lowering drugs, febuxostat, a non-purine inhibitor of xanthine oxidase, has been evaluated in large Phase 3 clinical trials, some of which have been completed and reported. These trials were designed to compare the safety and efficacy of various doses of febuxostat with the most commonly prescribed dose of allopurinol (300 mg/day). They showed that this dose of allopurinol was less effective than expected in double-blind, parallel clinical trials, while febuxostat at either 80 or 120 mg/day was more effective in reducing serum urate to <6 mg/dL [1,27,63,78]. Additional Phase 3 clinical trials of febuxostat at 40 or 80 mg/day are in progress (see www.clinicaltrials.gov).

Non-recombinant uricases that have been studied include A. flavus uricase (Uricozyme<sup>®</sup>, Sanofi-Synthelabo, Paris, France); methoxyPEG-modified C. utilis uricase and PEGmodified uricase isolated from Arthrobacter protoformiae [39,71,79]. Uricozyme was used mainly for prevention and treatment of malignancy-associated hyperuricemia and tumor lysis syndrome, but its use was associated with a significant risk of serious allergic or anaphylactic reactions [80]. Despite their success in lowering serum uric acid levels, the earlier forms of uricase had short circulating half-lives and inherent immunogenicity. Recombinant non-mammalian uricases include non-PEGylated recombinant A. flavus uricase (rasburicase) and recombinant C. utilis uricase conjugated to 20-kDa mPEG (urate oxidase-PEG 20) [81-84]. There have been extensive clinical trials of rasburicase for short-term treatment of tumor lysis syndrome [13–15,85,86], but only anecdotal reports about the use of rasburicase as compassionate treatment in chronic or treatment-resistant tophaceous gout [72]. In contrast with the results obtained with PEG-uricase treatment within 12 weeks (see Section 3.2 above), rasburicase had to be given at a high dose every week for one year to normalize serum urate levels and to reduce (but not eliminate) the subcutaneous tophi [72]. Rasburicase has been approved only for use in tumor lysis syndrome in the European Union and the United States, where it carries a "black box" warning mandated by the Food and Drug

Administration regarding the risks of analphylaxis, methemoglobinemia, interference with uric acid measurements and, in patients with glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase deficiency, hemolysis [87].

#### 7. Conclusions

Converting an enzyme that is totally foreign to the human body into a clinically useful drug presents formidable obstacles. While the covalent attachment of poly(ethylene glycol) (PEGylation) may appear to be an obvious approach, most of the PEGylated proteins that are currently in clinical use have amino acid sequences that are identical or nearly identical to those of a natural human protein. Nevertheless, it has been possible to mask the immunogenicity of porcine-like uricase and to achieve a half-life in the range of one to two weeks in patients, while conserving most of the intrinsic enzymatic activity. Because the substrate of this enzyme (uric acid) is small, it is able to diffuse through a web of polymer molecules to reach the active sites. Optimization of the PEGylation strategy was based on molecular modeling, assays of enzymatic activity under various conditions, pharmacokinetic studies in laboratory animals, assays of the antigenicity (binding of anti-uricase antibodies in vitro) and immunogenicity studies of various conjugates in animals. The bioavailability of the selected conjugate after subcutaneous injection is diminished by its very large size, with a total molecular weight of about 500 kDa (140 kDa of protein plus about 360 kDa of PEG). Conversely, its large size confers sufficient stability and long half-life after intravenous infusion that dosing at intervals of two weeks or four weeks leads to profound and sustained reduction of uric acid levels in patients with long histories of hyperuricemia. Photographs of the hands of two patients in a Phase 2 clinical trial have provided anecdotal evidence for the rapid resolution of inflamed and disfiguring deposits of uric acid in the joints.

If this PEG-uricase is found to be safe and effective in the ongoing Phase 3 clinical trials, it will fulfill an unmet medical need for patients with chronic gout and other conditions in which hyperuricemia has not responded adequately to available treatments.

#### Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Dr. L. David Williams, John A. French and Alexa L. Martinez of Mountain View Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for their essential contributions to many aspects of the preclinical research described in this review; to Dr. Marc Whitlow of Berlex Biosciences for providing the program Add\_PEG, and to Shyam S. Bhaskaran and Monika A. Sobczyk of Mountain View Pharmaceuticals, Inc., for their skill in adapting the Add\_PEG program to produce the structure of PEG-uricase shown in Fig. 1D.

#### References

 S.J. Lee, R.A. Terkeltaub, New developments in clinically relevant mechanisms and treatment of hyperuricemia, Curr. Rheumatol. Rep. 8 (2006) 224–230.

- [2] G. Nuki, P.A. Simkin, A concise history of gout and hyperuricemia and their treatment, Arthritis Res. Ther. 8 (Suppl. 1) (2006) S1.
- [3] K.Y. Kim, H.R. Schumacher, E. Hunsche, A.I. Wertheimer, S.X. Kong, A literature review of the epidemiology and treatment of acute gout, Clin. Ther. 25 (2003) 1593–1617.
- [4] K.L. Wallace, A.A. Riedel, N. Joseph-Ridge, R. Wortmann, Increasing prevalence of gout and hyperuricemia over 10 years among older adults in a managed care population, J. Rheumatol. 31 (2004) 1582–1587.
- [5] R.J. Johnson, S.D. Kivlighn, Y.G. Kim, S. Suga, A.B. Fogo, Reappraisal of the pathogenesis and consequences of hyperuricemia in hypertension, cardiovascular disease, and renal disease, Am. J. Kidney Dis. 33 (1999) 225–234.
- [6] D.-H. Kang, T. Nakagawa, L. Feng, S. Watanabe, L. Han, M. Mazzali, L. Truong, R. Harris, R.J. Johnson, A role for uric acid in the progression of renal disease, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13 (2002) 2888–2897.
- [7] R.J. Johnson, M.S. Segal, T. Srinivas, A. Ejaz, W. Mu, C. Roncal, L.G. Sanchez-Lozada, M. Gersch, B. Rodriguez-Iturbe, D.-H. Kang, J.H. Acosta, Essential hypertension, progressive renal disease, and uric acid: a pathogenetic link? J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 16 (2005) 1909–1919.
- [8] E. Krishnan, J.F. Baker, D.E. Furst, H.R. Schumacher, Gout and the risk of acute myocardial infarction, Arthritis Rheum. 54 (2006) 2688–2696.
- [9] E. Krishnan, C.K. Kwoh, H.R. Schumacher, L. Kuller, Hyperuricemia and incidence of hypertension among men without metabolic syndrome, Hypertension 49 (2007) 298–303.
- [10] X. Wu, D.M. Muzny, C.C. Lee, C.T. Caskey, Two independent mutational events in the loss of urate oxidase during hominoid evolution, J. Mol. Evol. 34 (1992) 78–84.
- [11] L.K. Stamp, J.L. O'Donnell, P.T. Chapman, Emerging therapies in the long-term management of hyperuricaemia and gout, Intern. Med. J. 37 (2007) 258–266.
- [12] G. Del Toro, E. Morris, M.S. Cairo, Tumor lysis syndrome: pathophysiology, definition, and alternative treatment approaches, Clin. Adv. Hematol. Oncol. 3 (2005) 54–61.
- [13] O. Bessmertny, L.M. Robitaille, M.S. Cairo, Rasburicase: a new approach for preventing and/or treating tumor lysis syndrome, Curr. Pharm. Des. 11 (2005) 4177–4185.
- [14] S. Jeha, H. Kantarjian, D. Irwin, V. Shen, S. Shenoy, S. Blaney, B. Camitta, C.-H. Pui, Efficacy and safety of rasburicase, a recombinant urate oxidase (Elitek), in the management of malignancy-associated hyperuricemia in pediatric and adult patients: final results of a multicenter compassionate use trial, Leukemia 19 (2005) 34–38.
- [15] S. Jeha, C.-H. Pui, Recombinant urate oxidase (rasburicase) in the prophylaxis and treatment of tumor lysis syndrome, Contrib. Nephrol. 147 (2005) 69–79.
- [16] S. Rozenberg, B. Roche, R. Dorent, A.-C. Koeger, C. Borget, N. Wrona, P. Bourgeois, Urate-oxidase for the treatment of tophaceous gout in heart transplant recipients. A report of three cases, Rev. Rhum. Engl. Ed. 62 (1995) 392–394.
- [17] D.M. Clive, Renal transplant-associated hyperuricemia and gout, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 11 (2000) 974–979.
- [18] F. Perez-Ruiz, P. Gomez-Ullate, J.J. Amenabar, S. Zarraga, M. Calabozo, A.M. Herrero-Beites, J.M. Nolla, Long-term efficacy of hyperuricaemia treatment in renal transplant patients, Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 18 (2003) 603–606.
- [19] J.D. Bieber, R.A. Terkeltaub, Gout: on the brink of novel therapeutic options for an ancient disease, Arthritis Rheum. 50 (2004) 2400–2414.
- [20] R.W. Rundles, J.B. Wyngaarden, G.H. Hitchings, G.B. Elion, H.R. Silberman, Effects of a xanthine oxidase inhibitor on thiopurine metabolism, hyperuricemia and gout, Trans. Assoc. Am. Physicians 76 (1963) 126–140.
- [21] G.B. Elion, A. Kovensky, G.H. Hitchings, E. Metz, R.W. Rundles, Metabolic studies of allopurinol, an inhibitor of xanthine oxidase, Biochem. Pharmacol. 15 (1966) 863–880.
- [22] K.R. Hande, R.M. Noone, W.J. Stone, Severe allopurinol toxicity. Description and guidelines for prevention in patients with renal insufficiency, Am. J. Med. 76 (1984) 47–56.
- [23] D.J. Pennell, T.O. Nunan, M.J. O'Dougherty, D.N. Croft, Fatal Stevens-Johnson syndrome in a patient on captopril and allopurinol, Lancet 1 (8374) (1984) 463.

- [24] H.C. Hanger, P.I. Pillans, Death following allopurinol hypersensitivity syndrome, N. Z. Med. J. 107 (1994) 229.
- [25] A. Gutiérrez-Macías, E. Lizarralde-Palacios, P. Martínez-Odriozola, F. Miguel-De la Villa, Fatal allopurinol hypersensitivity syndrome after treatment of asymptomatic hyperuricaemia, Br. Med. J. 331 (2005) 623–624.
- [26] C.A. Sarawate, P.A. Patel, H.R. Schumacher, W. Yang, K.K. Brewer, A.W. Bakst, Serum urate levels and gout flares: analysis from managed care data, J. Clin. Rheumatol. 12 (2006) 61–65.
- [27] M.A. Becker, H.R. Schumacher Jr., R.L. Wortmann, E. Lloyd, J. Streit, N. Joseph-Ridge, The long-term clinical benefits of febuxostat vs allopurinol in subjects with gout: interim analysis of the EXCEL trial, an ongoing phase 3, open-label extension study, Abstract FRI0484, EULAR 2006 (European League against Rheumatism), Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2006 Jun. 21–24 (www.abstracts2view.com/eular).
- [28] F. Perez-Ruiz, M. Calabozo, J.I. Pijoan, A.M. Herrero-Beites, A. Ruibal, Effect of urate-lowering therapy on the velocity of size reduction of tophi in chronic gout, Arthritis Rheum. 47 (2002) 356–360.
- [29] E.H. Oppenheimer, The lowering of blood uric acid by uricase injections, Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp. 68 (1941) 190–195.
- [30] E.H. Oppenheimer, H.G. Kunkel, Further observations on the lowering of blood uric acid by uricase injections, Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp. 73 (1943) 40–53.
- [31] M. London, P.B. Hudson, Uricolytic activity of purified uricase in two human beings, Science 125 (1957) 937–938.
- [32] F.F. Davis, T. Van Es, N.C. Palczuk, Non-immunogenic polypeptides (1979) US Patent 4,179,337, Enzon, Inc.
- [33] H. Nishimura, Y. Ashihara, A. Matsushima, Y. Inada, Modification of yeast uricase with polyethylene glycol: disappearance of binding ability towards anti-uricase serum, Enzyme 24 (1979) 261–264.
- [34] H. Nishimura, A. Matsushima, Y. Inada, Improved modification of yeast uricase with polyethylene glycol, accompanied with nonimmunoreactivity towards anti-uricase serum and high enzyme activity, Enzyme 26 (1981) 49–53.
- [35] A. Abuchowski, D. Karp, F.F. Davis, Reduction of plasma urate levels in the cockerel with polyethylene glycol-uricase, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 219 (1981) 352–354.
- [36] R.H.-L. Chen, A. Abuchowski, T. van Es, N.C. Palczuk, F.F. Davis, Properties of two urate oxidases modified by the covalent attachment of poly(ethylene glycol), Biochim. Biophys. Acta 660 (1981) 293–298.
- [37] Y. Nishida, N. Kamatani, T. Miyamoto, Hypouricaemic effect after oral administration in chickens of polyethylene glycol-modified uricase entrapped in liposomes, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 36 (1984) 354–355.
- [38] P. Caliceti, O. Schiavon, F.M. Veronese, Immunological properties of uricase conjugated to neutral soluble polymers, Bioconjug. Chem. 12 (2001) 515–522.
- [39] S. Davis, Y.K. Park, A. Abuchowski, F.F. Davis, Hypouricaemic effect of polyethylene glycol modified urate oxidase, Lancet 2 (8241) (1981) 281–283.
- [40] L.D. Williams, M.S. Hershfield, S.J. Kelly, M.G.P. Saifer, M.R. Sherman, PEG-urate oxidase conjugates and use thereof, (2003) US Patent 6,576,235 B1, Mountain View Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Duke University.
- [41] M.R. Sherman, MG.P. Saifer, L.D. Williams, M.S. Hershfield, S.J. Kelly, Aggregate-free urate oxidase for preparation of non-immunogenic polymer conjugates, (2004) US Patent 6,783,965 B1, Mountain View Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Duke University.
- [42] M.S. Hershfield, S.J. Kelly, Urate oxidase, (2006) US Patent 7,056,713 B1, Duke University.
- [43] S.J. Kelly, M. Delnomdedieu, M.I. Oliverio, L.D. Williams, M.G.P. Saifer, M.R. Sherman, T.M. Coffman, G.A. Johnson, M.S. Hershfield, Diabetes insipidus in uricase-deficient mice: a model for evaluating therapy with poly (ethylene glycol)-modified uricase, J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 12 (2001) 1001–1009.
- [44] M. Wilchek, T. Miron, Immobilization of enzymes and affinity ligands onto agarose via stable and uncharged carbamate linkages, Biochem. Int. 4 (1982) 629–635.
- [45] T. Miron, M. Wilchek, Immobilization of proteins and ligands using chlorocarbonates, Methods Enzymol. 135 (1987) 84–90.
- [46] M. Kito, T. Miron, M. Wilchek, N. Kojima, N. Ohishi, K. Yagi, A simple and efficient method for preparation of monomethoxypolyethylene glycol

activated with *p*-nitrophenylchloroformate and its application to modification of L-asparaginase, J. Clin. Biochem. Nutr. 21 (1996) 101–111.

- [47] F.M. Veronese, R. Largajolli, E. Boccù, C.A. Benassi, O. Schiavon, Surface modification of proteins. Activation of monomethoxy-polyethylene glycols by phenylchloroformates and modification of ribonuclease and superoxide dismutase, Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 11 (1985) 141–152.
- [48] M.G.P. Saifer, L.D. Williams, M.R. Sherman, J.A. French, L.W. Kwak, J.J. Oppenheim, Improved conjugation of cytokines using high molecular weight poly(ethylene glycol): PEG-GM-CSF as a prototype, Polym. Preprints 38 (1997) 576–577.
- [49] M.R. Sherman, L.D. Williams, M.G.P. Saifer, J.A. French, L.W. Kwak, J.J. Oppenheim, Conjugation of high molecular weight poly(ethylene glycol) to cytokines: granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factors as model substrates, in: J.M. Harris, S. Zalipsky (Eds.), Poly(ethylene glycol) Chemistry and Biological Applications. ACS Symposium Series 680, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, 1997, pp. 155–169.
- [50] J. Tsuji, K. Hirose, E. Kasahara, M. Naitoh, I. Yamamoto, Studies on antigenicity of the polyethylene glycol (PEG)-modified uricase, Int. J. Immunopharmacol. 7 (1985) 725–730.
- [51] O. Schiavon, P. Caliceti, P. Ferruti, F.M. Veronese, Therapeutic proteins: a comparison of chemical and biological properties of uricase conjugated to linear or branched poly(ethylene glycol) and poly(*N*-acryloylmorpholine), Farmaco 55 (2000) 264–269.
- [52] M. Kunitani, G. Dollinger, D. Johnson, L. Kresin, On-line characterization of polyethylene glycol-modified proteins, J. Chromatogr. 588 (1991) 125–137.
- [53] H.S.B. Baraf, S. Kim, A.K. Matsumoto, A.N. Maroli, Resolution of tophi with intravenous PEG-uricase in refractory gout, Arthritis Rheum. 50 (Suppl. 9) (2005) S105.
- [54] X. Wu, M. Wakamiya, S. Vaishnav, R. Geske, C.M. Montgomery Jr., P. Jones, A. Bradley, C.T. Caskey, Hyperuricemia and urate nephropathy in urate oxidase-deficient mice, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91 (1994) 742–746.
- [55] R.R. Maronpot, R.C. Sills, G.A. Johnson, Applications of magnetic resonance imaging, Toxicol. Pathol. 32 (Suppl. 2) (2004) 42–48.
- [56] A.L. Martinez, M.R. Sherman, M.G.P. Saifer, L.D. Williams, Polymer conjugates with decreased antigenicity, methods of preparation and uses thereof, (2004) PCT Patent Publication WO 2004/030617 A2, Mountain View Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
- [57] R.A. Sayle, E.J. Milner-White, RASMOL: biomolecular graphics for all, Trends Biochem. Sci. 20 (1995) 374–376.
- [58] N. Colloc'h, M. El Hajji, B. Bachet, G. L'Hermite, M. Schiltz, T. Prangé, B. Castro, J.-P. Mornon, Crystal structure of the protein drug urate oxidaseinhibitor complex at 2.05 Å resolution, Nat. Struct. Biol. 4 (1997) 947–952.
- [59] L.S. Lee, C. Conover, C. Shi, M. Whitlow, D. Filpula, Prolonged circulating lives of single-chain Fv proteins conjugated with polyethylene glycol: a comparison of conjugation chemistries and compounds, Bioconjug. Chem. 10 (1999) 973–981.
- [60] J. Hartman, S. Mendelovitz, A variant form of urate oxidase and use thereof, (2006) PCT Patent Publication WO 2006/110761 A2, Savient Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
- [61] J. Hartman, S. Mendelovitz, Variant forms of urate oxidase and use thereof, (2006) PCT Patent Publication WO 2006/110819 A2, Savient Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
- [62] N.J. Ganson, S.J. Kelly, E. Scarlett, J.S. Sundy, M.S. Hershfield, Control of hyperuricemia in subjects with refractory gout, and induction of antibody against poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG), in a phase I trial of subcutaneous PEGylated urate oxidase, Arthritis Res. Ther. 8 (2006) R12.
- [63] M.A. Becker, H.R. Schumacher Jr., R.L. Wortmann, P.A. MacDonald, W.A. Palo, D. Eustace, L. Vernillet, N. Joseph-Ridge, Febuxostat, a novel nonpurine selective inhibitor of xanthine oxidase: a twenty-eight-day, multicenter, phase II, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, doseresponse clinical trial examining safety and efficacy in patients with gout, Arthritis Rheum. 52 (2005) 916–923.
- [64] J.S. Sundy, N. Ganson, S.J. Kelly, E.L. Scarlett, M.S. Hershfield, Phase I study of PEGylated-uricase (Puricase<sup>®</sup>) in subjects with gout, Abstract 807, American College of Rheumatology Annual Scientific Meeting. San Antonio, TX, 2004 Oct. 16–21 (www.rheumatology.org/annual).

- [65] J.S. Sundy, N.J. Ganson, S.J. Kelly, E.L. Scarlett, C.D. Rehrig, W. Huang, M.S. Hershfield, Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of intravenous PEGylated recombinant mammalian urate oxidase in patients with refractory gout, Arthritis Rheum. 56 (2007) 1021–1028. Erratum in Arthritis Rheum. 56 (2007) 1370.
- [66] J.S. Sundy, M.A. Becker, H.S.B. Baraf, A. Barkhuizen, L. Moreland, B. Huang, M. Alton, A Phase 2 study of multiple doses of intravenous polyethylene glycol (PEG)-uricase in patients with hyperuricemia and refractory gout, Abstract 1836, American College of Rheumatology Annual Scientific Meeting, San Diego, CA, 2005 Nov. 12–17 (www.rheumatology. org/annual).
- [67] J.S. Sundy, M.A. Becker, H.S.B. Baraf, A. Barkhuizen, L.W. Moreland, B. Huang, M. Alton, A phase 2 study of multiple doses of intravenous polyethylene glycol (PEG)-uricase in patients with hyperuricemia and treatment-failure gout, Abstract THU0516, EULAR 2006 (European League against Rheumatism), Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2006 Jun. 21–24 (www.abstracts2view.com/eular).
- [68] J.S. Sundy, M.S. Hershfield, Uricase and other novel agents for the management of patients with treatment-failure gout, Curr. Rheumatol. Rep. 9 (2007) 258–264.
- [69] H.S.B. Baraf, S. Kim, A.K. Matsumoto, A.N. Maroli, Resolution of tophi with intravenous PEG-uricase in treatment-failure gout, Abstract THU0465, EULAR 2006 (European League against Rheumatism), Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2006 Jun. 21–24 (www.abstracts2view. com/eular).
- [70] H.R. Mahler, G. Hübscher, H. Baum, Studies on uricase. I. Preparation, purification, and properties of a cuproprotein, J. Biol. Chem. 216 (1955) 625–641.
- [71] C.C. Chua, M.L. Greenberg, A.T. Viau, M. Nucci, W.D. Brenckman Jr., M.S. Hershfield, Use of polyethylene glycol-modified uricase (PEGuricase) to treat hyperuricemia in a patient with non-Hodgkin lymphoma, Ann. Int. Med. 109 (1988) 114–117.
- [72] J.D. Moolenburgh, M.K. Reinders, T.L. Jansen, Rasburicase treatment in severe tophaceous gout: a novel therapeutic option, Clin. Rheumatol. 25 (2006) 749–752.
- [73] A. Ruetter, T.A. Luger, Efficacy and safety of intravenous immunoglobulin for immune-mediated skin disease: current view, Am. J. Dermatol. 5 (2004) 153–160.
- [74] J.D. Hainsworth, S. Litchy, D.W. Shaffer, V.L. Lackey, M. Grimaldi, F.A. Greco, Maximizing therapeutic benefit of rituximab: maintenance therapy versus re-treatment at progression in patients with indolent non-Hodgkin's lymphoma a randomized Phase II trial of the Minnie Pearl Cancer Research Network, J. Clin. Oncol. 23 (2005) 1088–1095.

- [75] F. Perez-Ruiz, J. Atxotegi, I. Hernando, M. Calabozo, J.M. Nolla, Using serum urate levels to determine the period free of gouty symptoms after withdrawal of long-term urate-lowering therapy: a prospective study, Arthritis Rheum. 55 (2006) 786–790.
- [76] N. Schlesinger, Management of acute and chronic gouty arthritis: present state-of-the-art, Drugs 64 (2004) 2399–2416.
- [77] J. Bieber, R. Terkeltaub, The role of hypertension in cyclosporine-induced hyperuricemia, Curr. Rheumatol. Rep. 6 (2004) 215–216.
- [78] H.R. Schumacher, M.A. Becker, P.A. MacDonald, E.J. Lloyd, C. Lademacher, N. Joseph-Ridge, Febuxostat versus allopurinol in the treatment of gout in subjects 65 years of age or older, Abstract THU0353, Annual European Congress of Rheumatology, Barcelona, Spain, 2007 Jun. 13–16.
- [79] F.M. Veronese, P. Caliceti, O. Schiavon, Branched and linear poly(ethylene glycol): influence of the polymer structure on enzymological, pharmacokinetic, and immunological properties of protein conjugates, J. Bioact. Compat. Polym. 12 (1997) 196–207.
- [80] C.-H. Pui, M.V. Relling, F. Lascombes, P.L. Harrison, A. Struxiano, J.-M. Mondesir, R.C. Ribeiro, J.T. Sandlund, G.K. Rivera, W.E. Evans, H.H. Mahmoud, Urate oxidase in prevention and treatment of hyperuricemia associated with lymphoid malignancies, Leukemia 11 (1997) 1813–1816.
- [81] J.S. Bomalaski, D.H. Goddard, D. Grezlak, M.A. Lopatin, F.W. Holtsberg, C.M. Ensor, M.A. Clark, Phase I study of uricase formulated with polyethylene glycol (Uricase-PEG 20), Abstract 287, American College of Rheumatology Annual Scientific Meeting, New Orleans, LA, 2002 Oct. 25–29 (www.rheumatology.org/annual).
- [82] J.S. Bomalaski, F.W. Holtsberg, C.M. Ensor, M.A. Clark, Uricase formulated with polyethylene glycol (Uricase-PEG 20): biochemical rationale and preclinical studies, J. Rheumatol. 29 (2002) 1942–1949.
- [83] J.S. Bomalaski, M.A. Clark, Serum uric acid-lowering therapies: where are we heading in management of hyperuricemia and the potential role of uricase, Curr. Rheumatol. Rep. 6 (2004) 240–247.
- [84] C.M. Ensor, M.A. Clark, F.W. Holtsberg, PEG-modified uricase, (2005) US Patent 6,913,915 B2, Phoenix Pharmacologics, Inc.
- [85] L.A. Browning, J.A. Kruse, Hemolysis and methemoglobinemia secondary to rasburicase administration, Ann. Pharmacother. 39 (2005) 1932–1935.
- [86] A.R. Sood, L.D. Burry, D.K. Cheng, Clarifying the role of rasburicase in tumor lysis syndrome, Pharmacotherapy 27 (2007) 111–121.
- [87] Sanofi-Synthelabo, Inc., Elitek (rasburicase) product monograph, http:// products.sanofi-aventis.us/elitek/elitek.html.





# Advanced DRUG DELIVERY Reviews



#### Editor-in-Chief: V.H.L. LEE

PEPTIDE AND PROTEIN PEGYLATION III: ADVANCES IN CHEMISTRY AND CLINICAL APPLICATIONS

Theme Editors: F.M. VERONESE J.M. HARRIS

www.elsevier.com/locate/addr